RECEIVED

May 23 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002632
(2016-CP-46-3602)

State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

v.

Travis Hines.....Petitioner.

AMENDED PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Elizabeth Franklin-Best
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.
Bar #72555
2725 Devine Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29205
elizabeth@franklinbestlaw.com
(803) 441333
Attorney for Petitioner

Other Counsel of Record:

Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549
Attorney for Respondent

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Whether the South Carolina Court of Appeals erred in affirming the PCR court's decision to uphold Travis Hines's conviction and sentence when a criminal defendant's right and interest in reviewing the State's discovery, as guaranteed by Rule 5(a)(1)(C) of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure, supersedes a solicitor's policy of using discovery as a bargaining chip in plea negotiations and any decision to the contrary violates both the statute and a defendant's rights to due process.
- II. Should this Court overrule *Hyman v. State* because it is contrary to Rule 5(a)(1)(C) of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure and because it fails to recognize there is a statutory remedy available for Solicitors who believe it necessary to restrict discovery due to concerns over confidential informants that would allow appellate oversight of these decisions and not leave them in the unilateral discretion of solicitor offices.
- III. Did the South Carolina Court of Appeals err by finding Hines's guilty plea was voluntary when the State filed notice to seek LWOP as a way to keep Hines from pursuing access to his discovery and when the circuit court's colloquy with Hines was perfunctory?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Travis Hines entered a *pro se* plea to distribution of heroin on December 17, 2015. After entry of the plea, the Honorable Judge John C. Hayes sentenced Mr. Hines to fourteen years in prison. Mr. Hines filed an application for post-conviction relief on December 9, 2016. The State filed its return on May 22, 2017, and a PCR hearing was held before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh on July 31, 2017. Mr. Hines was represented by Leah Moody. Mr. Hines' petition was denied and dismissed with prejudice, and the order was filed on November 14, 2017.

Mr. Hines filed his timely notice of appeal on December 28, 2017. He then filed his petition for writ of certiorari from the denial of his PCR on April 5, 2018. He was represented by C. Rauch Wise. The State filed its return on July 16, 2018. Mr. Hines filed a Reply on August 20, 2018. The South Carolina Court of Appeals granted certiorari on June 28, 2018. The matter was heard on April 13, 2021. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed on writ of certiorari on December 8, 2021. *Travis Hines v. State of South Carolina*, Op. No 5877 (filed December 8, 2021).

Mr. Hines subsequently filed a petition for rehearing to the South Carolina Court of Appeals on January 24, 2022, and it was denied on February 24, 2022.

This petition for writ of certiorari timely follows.

Relevant Facts

On December 26, 2014, Travis Hines was arrested for distribution of heroin. App. 84. After his arrest, Mr. Hines was represented by two separate attorneys. Significantly, neither attorney (nor any others throughout the pendency of this case) were able to view the entirety of the State's evidence related to the alleged drug buy that occurred on May 21, 2014. App. 84.

Mike McKinnon of the York County public defender's office was initially appointed to represent Mr. Hines. Discovery was sent to Mr. McKinnon, but despite being a drug case, the discovery did not include a drug report or the video of the alleged buy. App. 58. During this time, the State offered Mr. Hines a ten-year sentence in exchange for a guilty plea. App. 33; email. At no time did Mr. Hines reject the offer. App. 46.

Mr. Hines, unhappy with Mr. McKinnon, retained the legal services of Christopher Wellborn. Once retained, Mr. Wellborn immediately provided the State with his Rule 5 discovery request and his *Brady* motion. App. 30-31. On July 7, 2015, Mr. Wellborn received the electronic discovery from the State. App. 31. Yet again, the discovery was incomplete for a drug case; it did not include the video of the buy nor a drug report. Instead, the file included "still" photos of the alleged buy. App. 31.

During the initial stages of his representation, the State offered Mr. Wellborn the same ten-year sentence it initially offered to Mr. McKinnon. App. 33. However, Mr. Wellborn did not feel comfortable having Mr. Hines plead guilty without viewing the unreleased video or having any relevant discovery pertaining to a drug charge. App. 32, 38. In fact, he informed Mr. Hines that he

“wanted to see the video because it might give him a defense to the charge that he would otherwise plead guilty to a ten-year deal on.” App. 33-34.

Remarkably, on August 12, 2015, Mr. Wellborn received another email from Solicitor Newkirk that the offer increased from ten years to eighteen years “upon review and discussions with management.” App. 34-36. There were no elaborations on the parties involved in the discussion, or any further details provided despite efforts to understand why the offer increased. App. 34-36. The email further explained that Mr. Hines was eligible for a sentence of life without parole. App. 34. During this exchange Solicitor Newkirk also denied their request to see the video. Specifically, Solicitor Newkirk informed Mr. Wellborn that he was not allowed to have the video until the plea offer was rejected. App. 35. Indeed, the plea was conditioned upon Mr. Hines agreeing to waive his right to view the video of the alleged drug buy. App. 35.

According to Solicitor Newkirk, it is not an uncommon practice in the Solicitor’s office for a defendant to waive their right to see the drug report and video as part of their plea deal. App. 56-59. It is the general policy of the Solicitor’s office to “not release the video of a confidential informant in a drug case unless the defendant is then willing to not accept an offer from the State.” App. 56.

The State reasoned that the policy protects the informant; yet Mr. Wellborn informed them that Mr. Hines knew the identity of the informant without looking at the video, and even gave them the informant’s name. App. 35, 39. Nonetheless, the solicitor’s office held firm in its decision to condition the discovery on Mr. Hines’ rejection of the plea offer.

On August 12, 2015, Mr. Hines informed Mr. Wellborn that he did not want to accept the offer by the State because he had not seen the video of the alleged buy. App. 37. Mr. Wellborn agreed; he was not recommending Mr. Hines plead guilty to a drug charge without looking at the

video or the report. App. 38. This tactic by the State was, politely speaking, a “pressure, sort of extortive process by which you give up your right to discovery and take the eighteen. If you actually want to exercise your right to Discovery, you are going to lose that” by taking the plea. App. 37.

Mr. Wellborn explained to Mr. Hines that this approach by the State was “legally suspect given Justice Toal’s memo over ten years ago that was something that was in disfavor with the Court.” App. 35. “They did not have the full discovery [...] and as an ethical matter not to mention a matter which might result sort of ironically in a post-conviction relief action, I did not feel comfortable accepting an offer on behalf of a client where we didn’t have discovery that indicated he was guilty.” App. 46.

Around October 23, 2015, Mr. Wellborn finally received the drug report. App. 37. Almost a month later and over four months after the initial request, Mr. Wellborn received an email offering him an opportunity to see “relevant portions” of the video as determined by the State if he signed a protective order. App. 39; cite to email. On November 17, 2015, Mr. Wellborn, not Mr. Hines, was afforded an opportunity to view the portions of the video that the State deemed relevant. App at 39.

After reviewing the select portions of the video, Mr. Wellborn had a conversation with Mr. Hines that he did not think going to trial was in Mr. Hines’ best interest. While the “relevant” portions of the video showed Mr. Hines “fiddling with a package” and it would not, in his opinion, be “an extraordinary circumstantial leap to connect the dots” that the informant was given drugs, there was no there was no direct evidence of a drug buy. App. 24, 40. Shortly after seeing portions of the video selected by the State, the offer changed yet again. This time from eighteen years to fifteen years. App. 41.

On December 15, 2015, Mr. Hines appeared before the Honorable Judge Daniel Hall and requested Mr. Wellborn be relieved as his attorney and expressed to Judge Hall his intent to hire another attorney. App. 113-114. During this same hearing, the State formally notified Mr. Hines that they would be seeking life without parole. App. 117-118.

Mr. Hines attempted to hire another attorney, but the fast-approaching deadline in his case left little time for an attorney to prepare for trial. App. 17. Therefore, he had no choice but to proceed *pro se* and plead guilty as he could not prepare for a trial himself and the plea offer was set to expire the end of the term. According to Mr. Hines, if he failed to take the plea deal, the State would proceed with the life without parole sentence, an outcome Mr. Hines wanted to avoid. Prior to the plea hearing, the State negotiated with Mr. Hines and reduced the sentence to fourteen years in exchange for a guilty plea. App. 100-03.

On December 17, 2015, Mr. Hines appeared *pro se* before the Honorable Judge John C. Hayes. App. 97. After inquiring about his background, Judge Hayes had a colloquy with Mr. Hines concerning his right to self-representation, and the rights he was giving up because of the plea. App. 102-104. After this discussion, Judge Hayes accepted the plea and sentenced Mr. Hines to fourteen years in prison. App. 106.

ARGUMENTS

I. The court erred in affirming the PCR court’s decision because a criminal defendant’s right and interest supersedes a solicitor’s policy of using discovery as a bargaining chip to a plea and any decision to the contrary violates the Constitution and Rule 5(a)(1)(C) of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure.

The critical issue in this petition is whether a defendant’s rights to view discovery, as provided for by state statute, supersedes a solicitor’s office “policy” to condition that right on a plea deal. Relying on this Court’s decision in *Hyman v. State*, 397 S.C. 35, 48, 723 S.E.2d 375

(2012), the South Carolina Court of Appeals found that the State struck an “appropriate balance,” and Mr. Hines was not entitled to relief. *Travis Hines v. State of South Carolina*, Op. No 5877 (filed December 8, 2021). This ruling is inaccurate, and this Court should grant certiorari.

Throughout the entirety of this case, Mr. Hines has properly argued that the State violated his rights to view discovery pursuant to Rule 5(a)(1)(C) of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure. Pursuant to this rule:

Upon request of the defendant the prosecution shall permit the defendant to inspect and copy books, papers, documents, photographs, tangible objects, buildings or places, or copies or portions thereof, which are within the possession, custody or control of the prosecution, and which are material to the preparation of his defense or are intended for use by the prosecution as evidence in chief at the trial or were obtained from or belong to the defendant.

The requirement of Rule 5 imposes a mandatory obligation on the part of solicitors. The critical language in Rule 5(a)(1)(C), is the prosecution “shall” permit the defendant the opportunity to inspect...items material to the preparation of his defense.¹ Indisputably, the video of the alleged drug buy was material to the preparation of Mr. Hines’ defense and would have been used by the State in their case in chief. Yet, the record is devoid of any evidence that Mr. Hines was ever afforded the opportunity to view the video despite making it well known that he wanted to do so prior to taking the plea deal.

Instead, Mr. Hines was forced to either forgo discovery and accept a plea offer of fourteen years or review discovery and run the risk of life without parole. The solicitor's office lacks the authority to impose this burden on a criminal defendant, yet for at least 10 years it has been happening in some (not all) jurisdictions in South Carolina.

¹ See also Rule 3.4: Fairness to Opposing Party and Counsel. A lawyer shall not (a) unlawfully obstruct another party’s access to evidence or unlawfully alter, destroy or conceal a document or other material having potential evidentiary value.

The plain reading of Rule 5 says that Mr. Hines is entitled to all documents and tangible evidence, which are within the possession, custody, or control of the prosecution... which are material to the preparation of the defense or are intended for use by the prosecution as evidence in chief at the trial. Rule 5(a)(C). However, in *Hyman v. State*, 397 S.C. 35, 48, 723 S.E.2d 375 (2012), the Supreme Court of South Carolina crafted a new rule. Pursuant to *Hyman*, the State, instead of complying with Rule 5(a)(1)(C) of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure, can instead create an “appropriate balance” by providing still photographs to the defendant and providing defense counsel access to portions of the video evidence in a case. *Hyman*, at 48, 723 S.E.2d at 387. This unnecessary tension is being abused by solicitors who are conditioning the right to review evidence on whether the defendant intends to plead guilty or go to trial. Such actions are not proper unless undertaken by the legislative branch.

Simply put, Mr. Hines wanted to watch the video of the alleged drug buy in his drug charge, and under SCRCrP Rule 5(a)(1)(C), he was entitled to review the entire video. Contrary to the South Carolina Court of Appeals’ opinion, Mr. Wellborn’s viewing of the portion of the video the State deemed relevant (well over four months after it was requested) does not comply with Rule 5 (a)(1)(C).

This “policy” and the Court of Appeals’ decision to allow the solicitor’s office to abuse its authority violates the plain language of Rule 5 a(1)(C); and it results in constitutionally and structurally tainted pleas. There are ample ways to protect a confidential informant that do not violate an individual’s right to make informed decisions relating to their criminal charges.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals’ continued reliance on *Hyman* (without legislative changes) is erroneous, misguided, unconstitutional, and elevates a solicitor’s policy above a

defendant's rights to make a knowing, intelligent decision. This Court should grant Mr. Hines's petition for a writ of certiorari.

II. This Court should overrule *Hyman*.

The *Hyman* decision is wrongly decided because it fails to respect the legislature's intent in passing legislation that controls how discovery in criminal cases in South Carolina is to be conducted. Instead, in the *Hyman* opinion, this Court crafted its own rules regarding discovery and has allowed solicitors to unilaterally and without meaningful oversight decide what discovery may be provided to a criminal defendant so long as it alleges it is curtailing this right to protect confidential informants. *Hyman* holds "in cases involving a confidential informant, a criminal defendant's interest in access to certain evidence must be weighed against the State's interest in protecting the identity and safety of the informant." *Hyman*, 397 S.C. at 47, 723 S.E.2d 375 at 381. The Court then went on to approve the solicitor's withholding discovery in the case since defense counsel was provided still photographs. While it may be true the State has an interest in protecting informants, there is a procedure for protecting this interest that was not followed in the *Hyman* case nor in this case. Rule 5(d)(1) of the Rules of Criminal Procedure provide that:

Upon a sufficient showing the court may at any time order that the discovery or inspection be denied, restricted, or deferred, or make such other order as is appropriate. Upon motion by a party, the court may permit the party to make such showing, in whole or in part, in the form of a written statement to be inspected by the judge alone. If the court enters an order granting relief following such an *ex parte* showing, the entire text of the party's statement shall be sealed and preserved in the records of the court to be made available to the appellate court in the event of an appeal.

To the extent *Hyman* is understood to countenance a solicitor's office making unilateral decisions to withhold discovery required by statute and without undertaking the actions expressly provided for by the statute in situations where the safety of confidential informants is a concern,

this Court should overrule *Hyman* and make it clear that the remedy in these situations has been provided for by the legislature and solicitors are expected to follow it.

Additionally, this Court should make clear that predicating plea offers on access to discovery is improper and amounts to coercive plea-bargaining. This Court should grant certiorari and allow for additional briefing on this claim.

III. Did the court of appeals err by finding Hines's guilty plea was voluntary when the State filed notice to seek LWOP after initially extending an offer of 10 years if Hines waived his right to discovery, and as a way to keep Hines from pursuing access to his discovery, and when the circuit court's colloquy with Hines was insufficient under existing state law?

On December 15, 2015, a hearing was held on Hines's motion to relieve his counsel, Mr. Chris Wellborn. On that date, the State indicated it would seek life without parole for this offense. App. 118. Hines informed the Court he wanted to retain another attorney. App. 114.

Two days later, on December 17, 2015, Hines appeared before Judge John Hayes and entered his plea. The solicitor informed the Court Hines was proceeding pro se:

I have no doubt in his intelligence or his understanding of the proceedings. He was advised of his right to counsel by Judge Hall on Tuesday when he relieved Mr. Welborn of his services.

App. 101.

The court thereafter asked Hines about his educational background and then the following exchange occurred:

THE COURT: You have the right to have an attorney represent you in regard to this charge and if you cannot afford one the State would be required to appoint an attorney to represent you within some limits. That is you would be appointed a lawyer to represent you if you wish. If you could not afford one the limitation being that you are assigned an attorney that would be your attorney. It's dangerous for you to proceed without an attorney since you're not one and there is a benefit in having an attorney to represent you.

Do you understand that?

MR. HINES: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Do you wish to have an attorney in regard to this charge or give up that right?

MR. HINES: I give up that right.

THE COURT: I find Mr. Hines has freely voluntarily knowingly and intelligently understanding the benefits of counsel and the danger of self-representation exercises his right to proceed pro se. App. 102.

Judge Hayes then accepted the plea and sentenced Mr. Hines to 14 years in prison.

The Court of Appeals erred in finding that this colloquy comported with the requirements of the law in this state.

In *State v. Samuel*, 422 S.C. 596, 813 S.E.2d 487 (2018), this Court determined the standard of review for this claim. Whether a defendant has knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to counsel is a mixed question of law and fact which appellate courts review de novo. *United States v. Lopez-Osuna*, 242 F.3d 1191, 1198 (9th Cir. 2000). The Court will consider the defendant's history, the circumstances of his decision as presented to the circuit court at the time the defendant made his request. *United States v. Singleton*, 107 F.3d 1091, 1097 (4th Cir. 1997).

As this Court acknowledged in *Samuel*, whether a defendant has intelligently waived his right to counsel depends on the particular facts and circumstances surrounding each case, including the background, experience, and conduct of the accused. *Singleton*, 107 F.3d at 1097.

The circuit court failed to ensure that Hines's request to represent himself was knowing and voluntary for two reasons. First, the colloquy with Hines was perfunctory at best and was not a meaningful inquiry into whether Hines was making a knowing and voluntary waiver of his right to counsel. But secondly, the court did not make a sufficient inquiry into the circumstances of the case to realize that Hines was being coerced into taking this plea because the State had served its notice to seek life without parole after the court relieved Mr. Welborn as Hines's lawyer. This

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