STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

—————
CERTIORARI TO YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

—————
Appellate Case No. 2017-002632
—————

TRAVIS HINES,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

—————
RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
—————

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JANELL H. GREGORY
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 103176

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUL 16 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

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

State v. Cash, 309 S.C. 40, 43, 419 S.E.2d 811, 813 (Ct.App.1992).

In applying the factors set forth in Cash, the court found that Cash had sufficient background to understand the disadvantages of self-representation. Specifically, the court noted Cash was forty-six years old, had six years of college, and had been previously involved in criminal proceedings. Id. at 44. The court noted that Cash understood the nature of the charges against him and the possible penalty. Id. The court noted that there was no indication that Cash was represented by counsel before trial or that an attorney advised him of the difficulty of self-representation, the record showed that Cash appreciated the difficulty of his particular case. Id. The court cited to Cash's statement that he could do a better job of preparing his defense than a public defender. Id. The court cited that there was no indication Cash was attempting to delay or manipulate the proceeding in declining the assistance of counsel. Id. at 45. The trial judge appointed stand by counsel for Cash. Id. The court noted that Cash was aware that he would be required to comply with the procedural rules. Id. The court noted that Cash was aware prior to trial of possible legal challenges he could raise in defense to the charge against him. Id. The court noted during the

pretrial hearing in which Cash declined the assistance of counsel, the exchange between the judge and Cash did not consist of merely pro forma questions.

In State v. McLauren, the South Carolina Court of Appeals applied the Cash factors to determine whether defendant had a sufficient background to make a valid waiver of the right to counsel. State v. McLauren, 349 S.C. 488, 563 S.E.2d 346 (2002) (citing Cash, 309 S.C. 40, 43, 419 S.E.2d 811, 813 (Ct.App.1992)). The court noted McLauren was a mature man with both formal and informal education. There was no evidence in the record of any physical or mental impairment. Id. at 495. McLauren was involved in prior criminal proceedings and knew of the nature of the charges. Id. McLauren addressed questions by the court and made motions. Id. Although McLauren was not assigned an attorney before trial and appeared *pro se* at his arraignment, the court appointed him stand by counsel during trial. Id. There was no indication that McLauren was attempting to delay or manipulate the proceedings. Id. The court noted that the record indicated that McLauren knew to comply with the procedural rules and had at least some familiarity with the rules. Id. Specifically, the court cited the fact that McLauren made motions, called several witnesses, and objected at times to the prosecutor's questions. Id. McLauren knew of the legal challenges he could raise in defense to the charges against him. Id. The court noted that the exchange between McLauren and the court did not consist merely of pro forma questions. Id. The court noted McLauren language and actions at trial indicated he had an understanding of the legal system. Id. Finally, the court noted that there was no evidence that McLauren's waiver resulted from coercion or mistreatment. Id.

In the case at bar, the record reveals that Petitioner was warned by Judge Hall and Judge Hayes in separate appearances regarding the dangers of proceeding *pro se*. Although Petitioner did express an intention to Judge Hall regarding his desire to hire an attorney prior to his trial,

Petitioner voluntarily pursued the Solicitor in his case to negotiate a plea agreement. App. p. 101. On December 17, 2016, Petitioner appeared *pro se* in front of Judge Hayes where the judge inquired about Petitioner's age, education, and employment and warned Petitioner of the dangers of proceeding without an attorney. App. p. 101-102. At the conclusion of Judge Hayes' examination of Petitioner, he found Petitioner "freely voluntarily knowingly and intelligently [understands] the benefits of counsel and the danger of self-representation exercises his right to proceed *pro se*." App. p. 102.

Petitioner also signed a Plea Waiver Form, which states in writing the various rights Petitioner has and is choosing to waive with the guilty plea. Among the rights listed is Petitioner's right "to be represented by a lawyer at all stages of the proceedings. ...I understand an attorney would be of benefit to me, and since I am not an attorney, there is a danger in my representing myself. Understanding this, I give up this right." App. p. 87. Petitioner initialed next to each of the enumerated rights he chose to waive and signed the document. App. p. 86-89.

Petitioner further alleges that the sentencing judge, Judge Hayes, did not inquire as to why Petitioner dismissed his former attorney, whether that attorney had discussed the dangers of proceeding *pro se*, or if he had the opportunity to review his discovery. There is no script during Faretta hearings a judge must undertake with a defendant in order for their waiver to be valid. The record clearly shows Petitioner was warned on the record during two hearings regarding the dangers of proceeding *pro se* and that Judge Hayes, the sentencing judge, found Petitioner "freely voluntarily knowingly and intelligently" invoked his right to proceed *pro se*.

Although the record clearly establishes Petitioner received his Faretta warnings, Petitioner also had a sufficient background to make a valid waiver of counsel. The record reveals Petitioner

had a sufficient background to make a knowingly and intelligent waiver of counsel, even if the trial judge's inquiry of the Petitioner fell short of addressing the disadvantages of a *pro se* defense.

Here, as in Cash and McLauren, Petitioner had sufficient background to make a valid waiver of counsel and proceed *pro se*. During Judge Hayes' colloquy with Petitioner, he established that Petitioner was twenty-nine years old at the time of trial and was currently enrolled in college. There was no evidence in the record of any physical or mental impairment. Additionally, Petitioner had been previously involved in criminal proceedings. The record indicates that he had two previous drug convictions, which had the case proceed to trial, would have led to the State seeking life without parole. App. p. 118. Petitioner was also well aware of the nature of the charge. Notably, prior to the court accepting Petitioner's guilty plea, Judge Hayes went over the nature of the charge, the seriousness of the offense, and penalties associated with the offenses. Further, Judge Hayes also explained that a conviction of three serious offenses could subject Petitioner to being incarcerated for life without parole. App. p. 102-103. Finally, Petitioner had two previous attorneys that he alleviated from representation, and the record makes it clear that his most recent attorney, Chris Wellborn, had discussed the seriousness of the offense and the potential sentence Petitioner faced if he chose to proceed to a trial. App. p. 40-41. Based on the record, it is apparent that Petitioner was well aware of the serious nature of the charges he faced and had a sufficient background to knowingly and intelligently waive his right to counsel and proceed *pro se* in his guilty plea.

Ultimately, Petitioner knowingly and intelligently waived his right to counsel and proceeded *pro se* in his guilty plea. Petitioner's waiver was obtained after thorough warning and examination by two judges. Petitioner was provided a Plea Waiver Form where his rights were clearly listed and Petitioner chose to initial and signed the form effectively waiving his rights. Petitioner has

failed to establish that he received inadequate warnings regarding self-representation and did not know the disadvantages of proceeding *pro se* in his plea. The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief. Certiorari should be denied.

II. The Post-Conviction Relief Court properly denied Petitioner’s assertions that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct by making his plea contingent on Petitioner not viewing the video and by not obtaining a specific waiver of his right to view the video during his guilty plea.

Petitioner argues, pursuant to Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct and his plea was not voluntarily entered because the State did not disclose the video of the drug transcription to him personally. This Court already rejected that such a requirement exists in Hyman v. State, 397 S.C. 35, 45–47, 723 S.E.2d 375, 380–81 (2012), abrogated on other grounds by Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). The post-conviction relief court properly denied this allegation and this Court should deny certiorari.

The Brady disclosure rule requires the prosecution to provide to the defendant any evidence in the prosecution’s possession that may be favorable to the accused and material to guilt or punishment.” Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 384, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006) (internal citation omitted). Brady evidence is either favorable exculpatory evidence or favorable impeachment evidence. Porter, 368 S.C. at 384, 629 S.E.2d at 356 (citing United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 676 (1985)). “Materiality of evidence is determined based on the reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different had the evidence been disclosed to the defense.” Id. (citing State v. Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 453, 503 S.E.2d 214, 220 (Ct. App. 1998)). A “reasonable probability” is demonstrated when the suppression “undermines confidence in the outcome of the trial.” Id. (quoting United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S.667, 678). The State must disclose Brady evidence even when a criminal defendant does not specifically request the evidence. Id. (citing United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 107 (1976)).

In Gibson, the South Carolina Supreme Court set forth “framework” to evaluate Brady violation claims. The Court held:

[An applicant] may challenge the voluntary nature of his guilty plea in a PCR action by asserting an alleged Brady violation. ...Consequently, we utilize the following framework to evaluate the success of a PCR applicant's claim: (1) whether the evidence in question was favorable to the applicant; (2) whether the prosecution knew or had the evidence in its possession; (3) whether the prosecution suppressed the evidence; and (4) whether the evidence was material to Petitioner's guilt or punishment. We held that these factors applied in the guilty plea context to both exculpatory evidence and evidence to be used for impeachment purposes.

Gibson v. State, 334 S.C. 515, 514 S.E.2d 320, 324 (1999), (internal citations omitted).

Further, Gibson found that disclosure to Petitioner personally was not required in order for the solicitor to satisfy Brady. The court also stated that Brady would not apply to the disclosure of inculpatory evidence.

Under the present facts, it is undisputed that the solicitor disclosed the videotape to defense counsel. Therefore, in order to find that this action amounts to impermissible suppression under Brady, we must first assume that the Constitution requires disclosure of Brady evidence to a criminal defendant *personally*. We are unwilling to make that sweeping assumption, and find that disclosure to defense counsel was satisfactory under the present circumstances. Further, because we deem the manner of disclosure appropriate, Petitioner cannot satisfy the materiality prong of Brady. ...Finally, Petitioner has not proven that the videotape was favorable to him. By all accounts, including defense counsel's testimony, the videotape depicted Petitioner engaged in a drug transaction with a confidential informant. Because the evidence is *inculpatory*, Brady is inapplicable.

Gibson, 334 S.C. 515, 514 S.E.2d 320, 324 (1999), (emphasis in original quote).

In Hyman, the South Carolina Supreme Court made it clear that making the video available for defense counsel to view and providing still photographs from the video to the Petitioner was an "appropriate balance."

...the State not only disclosed the existence of the videotape, but also made the evidence available for inspection by defense counsel. The State even took the extra step of generating still photographs to assuage Petitioner's concerns about the contents of the videotape.

...Here, the State struck the appropriate balance by allowing defense counsel to view the videotape and providing Petitioner with stills during negotiations. Therefore, under these circumstances, the manner and extent of disclosure to defense counsel was satisfactory under Rule 5 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure.

Hyman, 397 S.C. 35, 47-48, 723 S.E.2d 375, 381 (2012).

The South Carolina Supreme Court further stated, “Petitioner was fully aware of the inculpatory nature of the videotape throughout the negotiations and the guilty plea proceedings. Consequently, Petitioner has failed to prove how the outcome would have been different had he chosen not to plead guilty after he watched the videotape for himself.” Id.

As the record establishes, Petitioner was initially offered a ten year plea agreement based on the condition that Petitioner not view the undercover video of his actions during the incident that led to his charges. The State indicated the condition was based on protecting their confidential informant from being known to Petitioner since Petitioner had a history of witness intimidation and homicide. App. p. 56-57. However, as in Hyman, the State provided stills from the video to opposing counsel and Petitioner for review and, after signing a “protective order” allowed Mr. Wellborn to view the video. App. p. 39-40. During the hearing, Mr. Wellborn testified he did not advise the Petitioner to take the ten year plea offer in the beginning since he felt viewing the video would be material in evaluating the charges against his client. App. p. 38. The ten year plea offer expired and the State’s plea offer changed several times throughout negotiations with Mr. Wellborn and later with the *pro se* Petitioner.

After viewing the video, Mr. Wellborn advised Petitioner that “it was kind of from my standpoint if I were prosecuting the case it would not be an extraordinary circumstantial leap to connect the dots and suggest [Petitioner] had given the informant the drugs.” App. p. 40. By the time the assessment of the video had been made by Mr. Wellborn, the ten year plea offer had

expired and thereafter Petitioner sought to relieve Mr. Wellborn from his representation. The court granted the removal of counsel and Petitioner undertook negotiating his plea offer with the State *pro se*.

Petitioner asserts that the State withholding the video from Petitioner's view is tantamount to misconduct in this case. However, the State made Petitioner aware of the existence of the video and provided still photographs from the video early in the process, which, as Hyman establishes, "struck an appropriate balance." Additionally, after signing a protective order, Mr. Wellborn, counsel for the Petitioner at the time, was allowed to view the video and provided Petitioner with information that the video was not favorable to their case. App p. 40.

Petitioner's assertion that his guilty plea was not freely and voluntarily given because he was not able to view the video is without merit. As in Hyman, the Petitioner here cannot satisfy any of the factors set forth in Gibson. The record shows that Mr. Wellborn was able to view the video and believed the video to be persuasive evidence that Petitioner was involved in a drug transaction, which would make the evidence inculpatory and immune from a Brady challenge. Therefore, Petitioner is unable to meet the criteria necessary to challenge the voluntariness of his guilty plea.

Petitioner is unable to show actual prosecutorial misconduct. The State providing stills from the video and allowing Petitioner's defense counsel to view the video was "an appropriate balance" in order to preserve the identity of the confidential informant. Petitioner showed no effort on behalf of the State to hide or suppress the video from Petitioner's knowledge. Further, the video contained evidence that was not favorable to the Petitioner, which would make it inculpatory evidence, and therefore, immune from a Brady challenge. The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief. Certiorari should be denied.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Petition for a Writ of Certiorari should be denied. Should this Court grant the Petition for writ of certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.